IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

FILE COPY

TIMOTHY JARRELL, PETITIONER

VS.

THE CITY OF NITRO, WEST VIRGINIA RESPONDENT

Docket No.19-0907 (Kanawha Circuit Court Action No. 19-AA-40)

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Mark McMillian (W. Va. Bar No. 9912)

Counsel for Petitioner

Mark McMillian - Attorney at Law, L.C.

Boulevard Tower - Suite 900

1018 Kanawha Blvd., East

Charleston, WV 25301

Tele: 304.720.9099

email: mark@markmcmillian.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION
ARGUMENT 8
1. The Court below erred in finding the decision of the Nitro Police Civil Service Commission clearly wrong after conducting essentially a de novo review of the record and substituted its judgment for that Civil Service Commission, though the Commission's decision was based based upon substantial evidence and its findings and conclusions were more than adequately explained.
2. The Court below critically erred in its findings of facts and application of same to the law by arbitrarily finding that the arrest technique employed by the Petitioner amounted to excessive force, based exclusively on the city attorney's testimony that he had stated his "opinion," during a legal in-service seminar, based upon his legal experience that such constituted deadly force, though the City Attorney could however point to absolutely no legal or medical authority for that position; nor did he have an official presence or reporting authority in the police department. The Petitioner produced multiple medical and self-defense experts and his Nitro Police Department supervisors, and without objection, a medical study supporting its use.
CONCLUSION 25

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES
Queen, In re, 473 S.E.2d 483, 196 W.Va. 442 (W. Va. 1996)
Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 488, 71 S.Ct. 456, 465, 95 L.Ed. 456, 467-68
(1951)
Martin v. Randolph County Bd. of Educ., 195 W.Va. at 304, 465 S.E.2d at 406
Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 396-97 (1989)
Elliott v. Leavitt, 99 F.3d 640, 642 (4th Cir. 1996)
Sloan v. Dept. Of Health & Human Res., 600 S.E.2d 554, 557 (W. Va. 2004)
Cahill v. Mercer County Bd. of Educ., 539 S.E.2d 437 (W. Va. 2000)
Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 559 (1979)
Tennessee v. Garner, 471 U. S., at 8-9
Poole v. City of Shreveport, 691 F.3d 624, 629 (5th Cir. 2012)
Gore v. San Diego Civil Service Commission, Cal. App. Ct, 4th Div., Dist. I, Docket No.
D069068 (2016)
Rudlaff v. Gillispie, 791 F.3d 638, 641 (6th Cir. 2015)
STATUTES AND CODES
W.Va. Code §60-6-9
Nitro City Code 521.06
Nitro City Code 509.01
W.Va. Code §8-14-20
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Mechanism of loss of consciousness during vascular neck restraint as published in the Journal of
Applied Physiology. (J.Appl Physio 112: 396-402, 2012 - Mitchell, Roach, Tyberg, Belekie,
Sheldon)
Webster's New World Dictionary, Second Concise Edition

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Court below erred in finding the decision of the Nitro Police Civil Service Commission clearly wrong after conducting essentially a *de novo* review of the record and substituted its judgment for that Civil Service Commission, though the Commission's decision was based based upon substantial evidence and its findings and conclusions were more than adequately explained.
- 2. The Court below critically erred in its findings of facts and application of same to the law by arbitrarily finding that the arrest technique employed by the Petitioner amounted to excessive force, based exclusively on the city attorney's testimony that he had stated his "opinion," during a legal in-service seminar, based upon his legal experience that such constituted deadly force, though the City Attorney could however point to absolutely no legal or medical authority for that position; nor did he have an official presence or reporting authority in the police department. The Petitioner produced multiple medical and self-defense experts and his Nitro Police Department supervisors, and without objection, a medical study supporting its use.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

After a protracted period of paid administrative leave imposed by the City of Nitro ("City"), Petitioner received a letter from the Police Chief informing of his dismissal from the police department on October 19, 2017 (JA 0084-85). Undersigned Counsel notified Chief Eggleton by letter that such was an unlawful action in absence of a predisciplinary hearing. (JA 0092). On May 22, 2018, A Hearing Board was convened consisting of three duly appointed members of the police department. The parties to that proceeding agreed by stipulation that the evidence placed before the hearing board would consist of the video record of testimony of witnesses appearing at a misdemeanor jury trial, wherein Petitioner had been acquitted. Prior to submitting the testimony for the board's consideration, the parties made opening statements.

Once the board's review had been completed, the parties returned and made closing arguments.

The board rendered a decision vindicating the Petitioner. (JA 0220-21). Upon appeal by the City,

a *de novo* hearing was convened before the Nitro Police Civil Service Commission ("Commission") on February 12, 2019. The parties, by stipulation, presented certain of the witnesses by way of the video record of the testimony referred to above and others appeared in person. By *Decision Order* (JA 0010-29) of March 30, 2019, the Commission unanimously vindicated the Petitioner, ordering his reinstatement, lost wages and benefits, as well as his retroactive promotion to the rank of lieutenant based on a grievance he had previously filed upon which a hearing had been conducted. Although W. Va. Code §8-14-20 (a) requires an award of reasonable attorney fees to a vindicated officer by the Commission, following the appeal to the circuit court, the Commission, in essence deferred that question.

The City appealed the decision of the Commission to the Kanawha County Circuit Court, which considered the case without oral argument and reversed the *Decision Order* of the Commission. (JA 0716-28). The present appeal followed.

Facts of the Case

On May 5, 2016 Mr. Jared Hester came by car to the Mardi Gras Casino in Nitro to gamble from Greensboro, N.C. where he lives, about three and one-half to four hours away. He made no prior arrangements for lodging. While there, he drank mostly beer, but also mixed drinks and shots over a period of hours and was admittedly intoxicated.

Lisa Smith, Security Director for Mardi Gras Casino and Resort, was alerted to Mr. Hester's presence and along with another security officer observed him "passed out" on an outdoor bench. Once they were able to communicate with him, he was told he could not remain there in his condition. The ensuing discussion focused on getting him to a place of safety – but not his car, where he insisted he wanted to go. Ms. Smith described Hester as aggressive and that

he gave security officers the "finger," told them "f**k you" and called them "douche bags." The Nitro Police Department was notified to further deal with Mr. Hester.

Mardi Gras security personnel and later Nitro police officers attempted to resolve the violative conduct of Mr. Hester considering his own safety as well as that of the public by convincing him to take a nearby hotel room for the night as an alternative to arrest and incarceration. This was important particularly because of his insistence on going to his car, which was parked there. Mr. Hester agreed to going to a Comfort Inn & Suites a short distance away and a Mardi Gras courtesy van was specially summoned for that purpose. Sgt. Jarrell followed the van to assure that Mr. Hester complied by checking into the motel. However, once Mr. Hester arrived, he took up a position outside the entry of the motel, having decided he would not.

Q. Okay. And you elected not to get a room at that time?

- A. That 's correct.
- Q. And he gave you the opportunity to do that again?
- A. Yeah, he told me that I needed to go inside or something about the sorts.

(JA 0357)

- Q. Okay. Do you remember what you were saying?
- A. Yeah. I said "I don't believe you can make me get a hotel."

(JA 0358)

Having exhausted alternative remedies afforded to Mr. Hester, Sgt. Jarrell clearly not only had

¹This, of course, posed the apparent risk to Mr. Hester and the public had he driven away in his condition.

the clear right, but the obligation to arrest and take Mr. Hester into custody². To accomplish that, Sgt. Jarrell instructed Mr. Hester to place his hands behind his back. Mr. Hester was non-compliant.

- Q. When he approached you, what did he say?
- A. He said, "Put your hands behind your back."
- Q. And what did you do?
- A. I just stood there, and when he kind of came up behind me, he kind of took my I believe it would've been my right arm and put it behind my back.

(JA 0338).

Mr. Hester further testified:

- Q. Did you engage in any physical altercation with him [Sgt. Jarrell] there at that Comfort Inn that night?
- A. Well, yes.

(JA 0339)

- Q. Do you recall him telling you to put your hands behind your back?
- A. Yes.
- Q. All right . And you didn't put your hands behind your back?

² No person shall: (a) Appear in a public place in an intoxicated condition (W.Va. Code §60-6-9; identical language, Nitro City Code 521.06)

Mr. Hester also perpetually engaged in the offense of Disorderly Conduct: "(a) No person shall, in a public place, a mobile home park, a public parking area, a common area of an apartment building or dormitory, or a common area of a privately owned commercial shopping center, mall or other group of commercial retail establishments, disturb the peace of others by violent, **profane**, **indecent** or boisterous conduct or language[.]" Nitro City Code 509.01 (emphasis added).

A. I did not move . I don't remember if I put my hand behind my back or if kept it by my side.

(JA 0359)

Concerning his resistance, Hester ultimately testified:

[A]lthough I don't remember a hundred percent, I don't believe that I would have...."(JA 0361) (bold added)

As observed in the security video³ from the Comfort Inn, which was admitted into evidence, Sgt. Jarrell arrive to find Mr. Hester remaining outside of the motel. Sgt. Jarrell engaged him in nearly one-half minute of dialogue, during which Mr. Hester crossed his arms in the apparent defiance as conceded in his testimony. At 2 minutes 31 seconds into the video, Sgt. Jarrell first reached to touch Mr. Hester's arm, having repeatedly told him to place his hands behind his back. (Hester testimony, ante; Sgt. Jarrell, JA 0486). During the next 3-4 seconds, Sgt. Jarrell testified that, having seen Mr. Hester "pumping his fist" is thereby alerted under the circumstances of the danger of being punched. Sgt. Jarrell was aware that he perceived Mr. Hester was very strong, which is supported by Resp. Exhibit 9 (JA 0624), Nitro Police Department Arrest Report of Jared Devone Hester, which lists him as 6ft.- 4in. tall, weighing 235 pounds at 29 years of age. Mr. Hester pulled away and turned his back to him, whereupon Sgt. Jarrell placed his arms at the sides of his neck and instructed him to stop resisting, repeating "Stop, stop, stop, stop" as he felt Hester began to lean forward, positioning Jarrell to be thrown over Hester's back. (JA 0487-86). Because Mr. Hester did not cease the resistance, Sgt. Jarrell increased the pressure so as to engage the lateral vascular restraint, which was successful in

³The video is black and white, low resolution, and without audio.

rendering Hester momentarily unconscious, during which time he was lowered slowly to a seated position without injury. (JA 0488). It is only at that point that Sgt. Jarrell was able to place handcuffs on Mr. Hester and gain control of him.

Upon the Commission's hearing and consideration of the evidence, it appropriately considered the testimony of Mr. Hester, Nitro Police Chief Robert Eggleton and contract Nitro City Attorney Johnnie Brown, who were the only witnesses called by the City in its case. Mr. Hester conceded that at all relevant times he was intoxicated and had a lack of precise memory as to a variety of important facts. In spite of that, he testified that he would not have intended or done that which others witnessed. Mr. Brown, though professing no expertise or experience in tactical use of force or law enforcement techniques, anatomy or medical training, testified as a fact witness as to levels of acceptable force when confronted with passive or active resistance to police directives or physical controls. While he testified that the carotid restraint was an appropriate technique only when deadly force was acceptable, he was unable to produce a single tangible document in support of that. Chief Eggleton joined the Department long after the events in question occurred. Though he testified that he had reviewed the case and recommended the action taken against Sgt. Jarrell, he acknowledged that he had recommended him in writing for an armed security position at a United States consulate abroad.

On the other hand, two medical doctors who were familiar with defense tactics testified that when applied by an appropriately trained officer, the carotid restraint did not carry with it the risks posited by the City. The Commission received into evidence, without objection, an empirical study wherein volunteer subjects (police officers) were actually subjected to application of that technique. That study supported the medical doctors' conclusion. Two

Captains from the Nitro Police Department, one a retired Assistant Chief and the other currently serving there and formerly the Police Chief, each testified that the policies of the department at the times in question did not preclude use of the restraint. The former, Ret. Capt. Gene Javins, was part of the Command Staff of the department tasked with formulating the applicable rules, including the use of force continuum, and testified that the technique was properly used in the subject situation.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Considering the facts logically found by the Civil Service Commission and legal standards applied thereto, the Court erred in finding the Commission's Decision Order clearly wrong. The questioned force was appropriately used in the ultimate arrest of Mr. Hester after he had exhibited combative and aggressive behavior to security officers and later in the final encounter with the Petitioner, who had exhausted all reasonable means, first to arrange an alternative to his arrest and later to take him into custody without violence. The Petitioner had not only the right, but the obligation, for the safety of others, to prevent Mr. Hester from his apparent purpose of leaving the premises in his vehicle. When Mr. Hester refused to submit to arrest by not allowing himself to be handcuff, pumping his fist and lifting his body against Sgt.

Jarrell, Jarrell tightened a restraint hold so as to restrict his carotid blood flow in subduing Hester. This was not in violation of policies of his department, physically dangerous to Hester, or in any sense an unreasonable use of force as contemplated by controlling authorities. Unopposed medical and martial arts experts confirmed that this is a safe and effective technique when properly applied; and, Petitioner is extensively trained in defense tactics and safely administered

the measure. The Commission properly found that the removing authority had failed to meet its burden to prove that just cause was establish to warrant his termination.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Rule 19 argument is appropriate in this case in that, as discussed herein, it involves error in the application of settled law; unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled; and, insufficient evidence for the court below to have reversed the decision of the Civil Service Commission. This case is not appropriate for memorandum decision.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

An adjudicative decision of [a] Civil Service Commission should not be overturned by an appellate court unless it was clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with the law. Review under this standard is narrow and the reviewing court looks to the Civil Service Commission's action to determine whether the record reveals that a substantial and rational basis exists for its decision. Syl pt.1, *Queen, In re*, 473 S.E.2d 483, 196 W.Va. 442 (W. Va. 1996). An appellate court may reverse a decision of the Correctional Officers' Civil Service Commission as clearly wrong or arbitrary or capricious only if the Commission used a misapplication of the law, entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation that ran counter to the evidence before the Commission, or offered one that was so implausible that it could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of Commission expertise. Syl. Pt. 2, Id.. The "clearly wrong" and the

"arbitrary and capricious" standards of review are deferential ones which presume an agency's actions are valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis. Syl. Pt. 3, *Id.*.

Legal Discussion

1. The Court below erred in finding the decision of the Nitro Police Civil Service Commission clearly wrong after conducting essentially a *de novo* review of the record and substituted its judgment for that Civil Service Commission, though the Commission's decision was based based upon substantial evidence and its findings and conclusions were more than adequately explained.

Also, this Court may not "displace the ... [Commission's] choice between two fairly conflicting views, even though the court would justifiably have made a different choice had the matter been before ... [us] de novo." Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 488, 71 S.Ct. 456, 465, 95 L.Ed. 456, 467-68 (1951); Martin v. Randolph County Bd. of Educ., 195 W.Va. at 304, 465 S.E.2d at 406. Civil Service Commission members, like juries, are usually representatives of the community-at-large; in addition, given that they draw on a fund of knowledge and expertise all their own, we must also give great deference to the Commission's selection of remedy. Queen, In re, 473 S.E.2d 483, 487 (W. Va. 1996).

Here, the Court below gave no deference whatsoever to the well reasoned findings of the Nitro Police Civil Service Commission.

As a starting point, the Court below simply adopted a version of events as most favorable to Mr. Hester. The Commission below however, considered both the testimony of Hester and that of Sgt. Jarrell and determined, *inter alia*, as follows:

- 5. Mr. Hester agreed to going to a Comfort Inn & Suites a short distance away and a Mardi Gras courtesy van was specially summoned for that purpose. Sgt. Jarrell followed the van to assure that Mr. Hester complied by checking into the motel. However, once Mr. Hester arrived, he took up a position outside the entry of the motel, having decided he would not.
 - Q. Okay. And you elected not to get a room at that time?
 - A. That 's correct.
 - Q. And he gave you the opportunity to do that again?

A. Yeah, he told me that I needed to go inside or something about the sorts.

(Tr. P. 121)[JA 0357]

Q. Okay. Do you remember what you were saying?

A. Yeah. I said "I don't believe you can make me get a hotel."

(Tr. P. 122)[JA 0358].

- 6. Accordingly, we find that, having exhausted alternative remedies afforded to Mr. Hester, Sgt. Jarrell clearly not only had the clear right, but the obligation to arrest and take Mr. Hester into custody.
- 7. To accomplish that, Sgt. Jarrell instructed Mr. Hester to place his hands behind his back. Mr. Hester was non-compliant.
- Q. When he approached you, what did he say?
- A. He said, "Put your hands behind your back."
- Q. And what did you do?
- A. I just stood there, and when he kind of came up behind me, he kind of took my I believe it would've been my right arm and put it behind my back.

(Tr. P.102)[JA 0348].

Mr. Hester further testified:

Q. Did you engage in any physical altercation with him [Sgt. Jarrell] there at that Comfort Inn that night?

A. Well, yes.

(Tr. P. 103)[JA 0349]

Q. Do you recall him telling you to put your hands behind your back?

A. Yes.

Q. All right . And you didn't put your hands behind your back?

A. I did not move . I don't remember if I put my hand behind my back or if kept it by my side.

(Tr. P. 123) [JA 0359]

Concerning his resistance, Hester ultimately testified:

[A]Ithough I don't remember a hundred percent, I don't believe that I would have...."(Tr. P. 125) [JA 0361] (bold added)

- 8. As observed from the security video⁴ from the Comfort Inn, which was admitted into evidence, Sgt. Jarrell arrived to find Mr. Hester remaining outside of the motel. Sgt. Jarrell engages him in nearly one-half minute of dialogue, at which Mr. Hester crosses his arms in the apparent defiance conceded in his testimony.
- 9. At 2 minutes 31 seconds into the video, Sgt. Jarrell first reaches to touch Mr. Hester's arm, having repeatedly told him to places his hands behind his back. (Hester testimony, *ante*; Sgt. Jarrell, Tr. P. 250).[JA 0386].

⁴The video is black and white, low resolution, and without audio.

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