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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court improperly substituted its judgment for that of the Civil Service Commission by rejecting certain evidence and concluding that the decision of the Civil Service Commission was clearly wrong;
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court committed error by finding that the Petitioner's use of force, choking a non-combative misdemeanor suspect into unconsciousness, was excessive in light of the multiple medical and self-defense experts who testified, the testimony of current and

former Nitro Police officers, a medical study article and an unreported civil service decision from California; and,

- 3. Whether the Circuit Court improperly considered the testimony of City Attorney Johnnie Brown regarding: (a) training he provided to the Petitioner two weeks prior to the incident which gives rise to this appeal; and (b) his expert legal opinion regarding the legal standards regarding use of force, all of which the Civil Service Commission effectively rejected.
  - A. Whether the Circuit Court improperly substituted its judgment for that of the Civil Service Commission by rejecting certain evidence and concluding that the decision of the Civil Service Commission was clearly wrong.

Contrary to Petitioner's First Assignment of Error which claims that the Circuit Judge committed legal error by conducting a *de novo* review of the record below, this Court has held: "Our review of the circuit court's decision made in view of the Commission's action is generally *de novo*. Thus, we review the Commission's adjudicative decision from the same position as the circuit court." *In re: Queen,* 196 W.Va. 442, 446, 473 S.E.2d 483, 487 (1996), citing, *Randolph County Bd. of Educ. v. Scalia,* 182 W.Va. 289, 292, 387 S.E.2d 524, 527 (1989). "To be specific, in no case will this Court act as a rubber stamp. Although the Hearing Board's findings of fact are given respective consideration, they are not binding on this Court." *In re Hamrick,* 204 W.Va. 357, \_\_\_\_, 512 S.E.2d 870, 872 (1998), citing *In the Matter of Browning,* 192 W.Va. 231, 234 n. 4, 452 S.E.2d 34, 37 n. 4 (1994). Although the factual findings of the Commission are entitled to deference, an appellate court may reverse a decision of the Civil Service Commission as clearly wrong or arbitrary or capricious if the Commission used a misapplication of the law, entirely failed to consider an important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation that ran counter to the evidence before the Commission, or offered one that was so implausible

that it could not be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of Commission expertise. See Syllabus point 2, *In Re: Queen,* 196 W.Va. 442, 473 S.E.2d 483 (1996).

"The 'clearly wrong' and the 'arbitrary and capricious' standards of review are deferential ones which presume the agency's actions are valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis." *Frymier-Halloran v. Paige*, 193 W.Va. 687, 695, 458 S.E.2d 780, 788 (1995). An administrative agency such as the Civil Service Commission, may not elect one version of the evidence over the conflicting version "unless the conflict is resolved by a reasoned and articulate decision, weighing and explaining the choices made and rendering its decision capable of review by an appellate court." Syl. Pt. 6, *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996). Here, the only two witnesses at the scene of the arrest and use of force testified to contradictory versions of events but there was also congruence on a number of issues. Nevertheless, the Commission elevated Petitioner's testimony over the conflicting testimony of Mr. Hester and the video evidence, without making a reasoned and articulate decision weighing and explaining the choices made and rendering its decision capable of review by an appellate court. As this Court said in *In re Queen*,

administrative agencies should make specific and separate findings of fact, opinions, and conclusions of law that will address all material aspects of the case, including credibility issues. Important liberty and property interests, not to mention significant public interests, are at stake in these proceedings and it is the obligation of administrative agencies to give the parties the full benefit of their reasoning by setting forth their findings in suitable detail in their final orders.

196 W. Va. at 449 n.6, 473 S.E.2d at 490 n.6. The Circuit Court had the benefit of reviewing the same video evidence that the Commission had for certain witnesses.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As noted in Petitioner's brief, not all witnesses testified live before the Commission. Certain testimony was admitted by video of the witnesses' testimony in the Magistrate Court criminal trial, particularly that of Mr. Hester who was beyond the subpoena power of the Commission.

The Circuit Court was well within its discretion to review the video evidence and reject the Petitioner's testimony because his testimony was contradicted by the video evidence. The U.S. Supreme Court stated, "When opposing parties tell two different stories, one of which is blatantly contradicted by the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it, a court should not adopt that version of the facts for purposes of ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372, 380-81 (2007)("The Court of Appeals . . . should have viewed the facts in the light depicted by the videotape."). *Accord*, *Hupp v. State Trooper Seth Cook*, 931 F.3d 307 (4th Cir. 2019)("To the extent the video depicts material facts of this case, we review those facts as they are depicted in the video); *Blaylock v. City of Phila.*, 504 F.3d 405, 414 (3d Cir. 2007)("when there is evidence - like the videotape in *Scott* itself - of undisputed authenticity that shows some material element of the plaintiff's account to be "blatantly and demonstrably false, a court of appeals may say so . . . . ").

The Commission found, at Finding of Fact No. 11, that Mr. Hester pulled away from the Petitioner and turned his back on him when Petitioner placed hands on him to effect the arrest. It also found, at Finding of Fact No. 14, that Mr. Hester's initial passive resistance "clearly became active." JA 0694. These findings are not supported by the video evidence. What the video establishes, however, is that Petitioner pushed Mr. Hester back against the hotel wall, grabbed hold of Mr. Hester's right arm and spun him around as Petitioner applied the choke hold. Mr. Hester was passive during the entire incident. Mr. Hester's testimony, however, is wholly consistent with the video: he did not comply by putting his hands behind his back and "I just stood there, and when he kind of came up behind me, he kind of took my - I believe it would have been my right arm and put it behind my back." JA 0338. Mr. Hester further testified, consistent with the video evidence, that he did not physically resist in any way, did not attack

Petitioner, did not push him, and did not bump him. JA 0340. Having seen the same video as the Commission, the Circuit Court found at Finding of Fact No. 4:

The video clearly shows the two men conversing from a few feet apart before Respondent Jarrell moves closer to Mr. Hester. The video is likewise plain in showing that Mr. Hester made no threatening movements or gestures before being placed in a choke hold, and it appears that Mr. Hester barely moved at all before being choked.

JA 0717-18. The Commission's finding is contrary to the testimony and the evidence, and is clearly wrong.

Curiously, the Commission credits Petitioner's testimony that Mr. Hester was "pumping his fists" during the three (3) or four (4) seconds after being told to place his hands behind his back causing Petitioner to fear that he was about to be punched. Findings of Fact Nos. 9 and 10, JA 0692-93. But the video is clear that Mr. Hester folded his arms across his chest, not a move that signals an imminent punch. Moreover, the Commission did not explain the inconsistency between those Findings of Fact and finding of Fact No. 8, apparently concluding that Mr. Hester was folding his arms when he was "pumping his fists."

The Commission suggested that Mr. Hester openly admitted to engaging in a physical altercation with the Petitioner. Finding of Fact No. 7, JA 0693. Petitioner quotes the same one sentence out of all of Mr. Hester's testimony to make the same representation to this Court. Appeal Brief at page 4. The Circuit Court considered that one sentence in context with surrounding testimony and concluded that any representation that Mr. Hester admitted engaging in a physical confrontation with Petitioner amounted to a severe mischaracterization of the evidence. JA 0724. This is especially so considering that Mr. Hester testified in the same exchange that the physical altercation he was describing was Petitioner advancing on him and choking him.

- Q. Did you engage in any physicalaltercation with him there at that Comfort Innthat night?
- 6 A. Well, yes.
- 7 Q. Did you attack him?
- 8 A. No.
- 9 Q. What was the physical altercation that
- 10 you had with him?
- 11 A. Well, at the point that he came around
- 12 behind me and took my hand, he quickly said, "Stop
- 13 resisting," and put his right arm around my neck,
- 14 and that was about it. I remember waking up on --
- 15 from being unconscious.
- 16 Q. Were you -- were you resisting him?
- 17 A. No.
- 18 Q. Okay. And you were -- you were actually
- 19 rendered unconscious?
- 20 A. Yes.

JA 0339.

The Commission discounted or disregarded the testimony of Mr. Hester because he was intoxicated, "lack of memory as to many facts" and "interest in the outcome." While it is true that Mr. Hester was intoxicated, the Commission apparently found Mr. Hester's memory, which was consistent in many instances with the testimony of Petitioner and the video evidence, made him not worthy of any level of credibility. Certainly the Commission did not engage in the level of analysis required by this Court in Syl. Pt. 6, *Muscatell v. Cline*, 196 W.Va. 588, 474 S.E.2d 518 (1996). Also considered by the Commission as a factor to disregard the testimony of Mr. Hester was the suggestion that Mr. Hester had an interest in the outcome of the civil service hearing. Finding of Fact No. 3, JA 0691. The truth is the opposite. Mr. Hester did not file a complaint against Petitioner. JA 0368. Mr. Hester was a witness subpoenaed to testify for the State of West Virginia in Petitioner's criminal trial. He did not volunteer to return to Nitro, West Virginia to testify against Petitioner in the Civil Service proceeding. Neither proceeding could result in any financial or other benefit to Mr. Hester. To the contrary, the only witness with the incentive to falsify or shade testimony was Petitioner: potential conviction, fine and

imprisonment in the criminal proceeding and the threatened loss of his public employment in the Civil Service hearing.

Curiously, the Commission also found that Mr. Hester's recollection was less reliable "verses [sic.] those whose recollections were clearer and more consistent with otherwise established facts." Finding of Fact No. 3, JA 0691. The Commission neither identified the "otherwise established facts" or whose recollections were clearer and convincing. Perhaps it is because no one else was present<sup>3</sup> when the choking occurred. Other police officers arrived at the Comfort Inn only after Mr. Hester was on the ground.

Mr. Hester's testimony regarding the events at the Comfort Inn is not riddled with lapses of memory as determined by the Commission. For instance, Mr. Hester testified that the Casino shuttle bus took him to the Comfort Inn, that he was not under arrest at the time, that he exited the shuttle bus and stood outside in front of the hotel near the front door. JA 0336-37. Mr. Hester testified that Petitioner arrived shortly thereafter, approached him until about six (6) or seven (7) feet apart, that Petitioner told him to put his hands behind his back and that he just stood there in response. JA 338. He described having his right hand grabbed, Petitioner telling him to stop resisting, and described how the choke hold was applied. JA 339-40. Mr. Hester also testified that Petitioner told him to get a room or he would be arrested and that he responded to Petitioner "I don't believe you can make me get a hotel." JA 0358.

In short, Mr. Hester's recollection and testimony regarding the critical events at the Comfort Inn are consistent with the testimony of Petitioner and the video recording of the incident. The Commission's finding that Mr. Hester had a lack of memory is simply not supported by the record and the Commission's findings based upon its inadequate and inaccurate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The only other known witness is an unknown customer of the hotel seen on the video but not otherwise identified.

reasons for not crediting his testimony constitute an arbitrary and capricious view of the evidence and an abuse of discretion. The Circuit Court was well within the scope of appellate review of the record to disregard the Commission's findings of fact and adopt different findings which are actually supported by substantial evidence in the record.

B. Whether the Circuit Court committed error by finding that the Petitioner's use of force, choking a non-combative misdemeanor suspect into unconsciousness, was excessive in light of the multiple medical and self-defense experts who testified, the testimony of current and former Nitro police officers, a medical study article and an unreported civil service decision from California.

Petitioner suggests that certain testimony regarding medical evidence and journal articles provided to the Commission were admitted without objection from the City of Nitro. Appeal brief at pages 1, 6, 15, and 17. This is not true. Petitioner offered his Exhibit 4, an article entitled "Mechanism of loss of consciousness during vascular neck restraint" during his cross examination of the City Attorney. The City of Nitro immediately informed the Commission that it reserved the right to make objection to the article in proposed findings after having an opportunity to review the submitted article. JA 0307-08.

The City of Nitro's Supplemental Closing Argument identifies the City of Nitro's objection and its reasons for not considering the Exhibit. The City of Nitro identified a number of reasons that the evidence was improper, including the fact that the test subjects were all healthy police officers who were not intoxicated. Each had the ability to "tap out" and an instructor was on site to monitor and stop the use of force as needed. JA 0625-26. In addition, review of the article reveals that test subjects volunteered, went through medical screening, signed informed consent waivers, and refrained from the use of any caffeine containing food or drink for a number of hours before the testing. JA 0590. Also, as noted by Petitioner, the choke hold was "mechanically simulated" by use of a "mechanical harness." Appeal brief at page 17.

Clearly, the study was conducted in sterile and optimum conditions and closely monitored to avoid risk to the test subjects. This does not mirror the conditions under which Mr. Hester was rendered unconscious. The author also concluded that his results might not apply to different populations. JA 0595.

Petitioner states that this article concluded that the technique is "safe and effective." Appeal brief at page 17. The whole sentence from which that conclusion was drawn by Petitioner is: "With the majority of subjects rendered unconscious and, **importantly, no serious adverse events in our subjects**, we conclude that VNR is a safe and effective force intervention; however, outcomes could vary in different populations (i.e., unhealthy or older subjects.)" JA 0595 (emphasis added). Moreover, the author does not suggest that the choke hold be generally used, instead he suggests that Vascular Neck Restraint "is a technique that police offices may employ to control **combative** individuals." JA 0590 (emphasis added). Petitioner's reliance on this article is misplaced and has no, or extremely limited, relevance to Petitioner's use of a choke hold on Mr. Hester.

Petitioner also glosses over the City of Nitro's objection to the admission of an unreported, not for publication, decision in a civil service appeal in San Diego, California. Appeal brief at page 24. The City of Nitro objected to the consideration of this decision for any purpose. JA 0312, 0315. The City of Nitro also addressed the inapplicability of that case in its Supplemental Closing. JA 0626-28. In California, the citation to or reliance on an unpublished opinion is only appropriate to establish the law of the case or involves the same defendant or respondent; neither of which applied to Petitioner in this case. The Commission obviously

disagreed. JA 0699. Moreover, the San Diego case was so factually different<sup>4</sup> from the Comfort Inn arrest of Mr. Hester that it, and its reasoning, should have been rejected out of hand.

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